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Where You Can Find More Information

Investors and others should note that we may announce material business and financial information to our investors using our investor
relations website (https://investors.tenable.com), our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), our website, webcasts, press
releases, and conference calls. We use these mediums, including our website, to communicate with investors and the general public about our
company, our products, and other issues, and for complying with our disclosure obligations under Regulation FD. It is possible that the
information that we make available on our website may be deemed to be material information. We therefore encourage investors and others
interested in our company to review the information that we make available on our website, in addition to following our SEC filings, our
webcasts, press releases, and conference calls. The information we post through these channels is not a part of this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q. These channels be may updated from time to time on our investor relations website.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.        Financial Statements
TENABLE HOLDINGS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

September 30,
2023

December 31,
2022

(in thousands, except per share data) (unaudited)
Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 445,316  $ 300,866 
Short-term investments 247,658  266,569 
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $225 and $1,400 at September 30, 2023
and December 31, 2022, respectively) 179,432  187,341 
Deferred commissions 46,132  44,270 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 52,529  58,121 

Total current assets 971,067  857,167 
Property and equipment, net 44,076  46,726 
Deferred commissions (net of current portion) 65,412  67,238 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 35,989  38,495 
Acquired intangible assets, net 66,169  75,376 
Goodwill 316,520  316,520 
Other assets 25,213  38,008 
Total assets $ 1,524,446  $ 1,439,530 

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 26,880  $ 18,722 
Accrued compensation 44,850  52,620 
Deferred revenue 518,372  502,115 
Operating lease liabilities 5,655  5,821 
Other current liabilities 4,986  4,882 

Total current liabilities 600,743  584,160 
Deferred revenue (net of current portion) 163,086  162,487 
Term loan, net of issuance costs (net of current portion) 359,941  361,970 
Operating lease liabilities (net of current portion) 49,382  52,611 
Other liabilities 7,621  7,436 
Total liabilities 1,180,773  1,168,664 

Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock (par value: $0.01; 500,000 shares authorized; 116,470 and 113,056 shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively) 1,165  1,131 
Additional paid-in capital 1,146,435  1,017,837 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (540) (1,351)
Accumulated deficit (803,387) (746,751)

Total stockholders’ equity 343,673  270,866 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,524,446  $ 1,439,530 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TENABLE HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands, except per share data) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Revenue $ 201,529  $ 174,851  $ 585,404  $ 498,560 
Cost of revenue 45,754  38,582  134,774  109,549 
Gross profit 155,775  136,269  450,630  389,011 
Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 94,759  88,123  289,750  258,119 
Research and development 37,052  36,131  113,080  106,649 
General and administrative 31,877  24,973  85,614  77,969 

Total operating expenses 163,688  149,227  488,444  442,737 
Loss from operations (7,913) (12,958) (37,814) (53,726)

Interest income 7,662  1,803  19,323  2,746 
Interest expense (8,119) (5,082) (23,208) (12,246)
Other expense, net (6,502) (2,073) (7,993) (4,880)

Loss before income taxes (14,872) (18,310) (49,692) (68,106)
Provision for income taxes 693  420  6,944  2,629 
Net loss $ (15,565) $ (18,730) $ (56,636) $ (70,735)

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.13) $ (0.17) $ (0.49) $ (0.64)
Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per share, basic
and diluted 115,954  111,937  114,967  110,843 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TENABLE HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Net loss $ (15,565) $ (18,730) $ (56,636) $ (70,735)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities, net 161  (13) 811  (1,563)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 161  (13) 811  (1,563)
Comprehensive loss $ (15,404) $ (18,743) $ (55,825) $ (72,298)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TENABLE HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(Unaudited)

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Total
Stockholders’

Equity
Common Stock Accumulated

Deficit(in thousands) Shares Amount
Balance at June 30, 2023 115,529  $ 1,156  $ 1,101,928  $ (701) $ (787,822) $ 314,561 
Exercise of stock options 123  1  883  —  —  884 
Vesting of restricted stock units 611  6  (6) —  —  — 
Vesting of performance stock units 13  —  —  —  —  — 
Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase plan 194  2  6,308  —  —  6,310 
Stock-based compensation —  —  37,322  —  —  37,322 
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  161  —  161 
Net loss —  —  —  —  (15,565) (15,565)
Balance at September 30, 2023 116,470  $ 1,165  $ 1,146,435  $ (540) $ (803,387) $ 343,673 

Balance at December 31, 2022 113,056  $ 1,131  $ 1,017,837  $ (1,351) $ (746,751) $ 270,866 
Exercise of stock options 289  3  2,418  —  —  2,421 
Vesting of restricted stock units 2,541  25  (25) —  —  — 
Vesting of performance stock units 78  1  (1) —  —  — 
Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase plan 506  5  16,219  —  —  16,224 
Stock-based compensation —  —  109,987  —  —  109,987 
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  811  —  811 
Net loss —  —  —  —  (56,636) (56,636)
Balance at September 30, 2023 116,470  $ 1,165  $ 1,146,435  $ (540) $ (803,387) $ 343,673 

Balance at June 30, 2022 111,574  $ 1,116  $ 944,799  $ (1,856) $ (706,534) $ 237,525 
Exercise of stock options 158  2  1,977  —  —  1,979 
Vesting of restricted stock units 482  4  (4) —  —  — 
Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase plan 187  2  5,907  —  —  5,909 
Stock-based compensation —  —  33,185  —  —  33,185 
Other comprehensive loss —  —  —  (13) —  (13)
Net loss —  —  —  —  (18,730) (18,730)
Balance at September 30, 2022 112,401  $ 1,124  $ 985,864  $ (1,869) $ (725,264) $ 259,855 

Balance at December 31, 2021 108,929  $ 1,089  $ 869,059  $ (306) $ (654,529) $ 215,313 
Exercise of stock options 1,090  11  10,644  —  —  10,655 
Vesting of restricted stock units 1,939  19  (19) —  —  — 
Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase plan 443  5  14,786  —  —  14,791 
Stock-based compensation —  —  91,394  —  —  91,394 
Other comprehensive loss —  —  —  (1,563) —  (1,563)
Net loss —  —  —  —  (70,735) (70,735)
Balance at September 30, 2022 112,401  $ 1,124  $ 985,864  $ (1,869) $ (725,264) $ 259,855 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

6



Table of Contents

TENABLE HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2023 2022
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss $ (56,636) $ (70,735)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 18,900  15,911 
Stock-based compensation 108,812  89,954 
Other 1,838  2,102 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 9,084  (10,727)
Prepaid expenses and other assets 17,524  20,355 
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and accrued compensation 447  (8,829)
Deferred revenue 16,856  61,731 
Other current and noncurrent liabilities (5,475) (529)

Net cash provided by operating activities 111,350  99,233 

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (1,299) (5,132)
Capitalized software development costs (4,707) (8,778)
Purchases of short-term investments (217,239) (190,440)
Sales and maturities of short-term investments 242,864  163,340 
Business combinations, net of cash acquired —  (66,993)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 19,619  (108,003)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payments on term loan (2,813) (2,813)
Proceeds from loan agreement 424  572 
Proceeds from stock issued in connection with the employee stock purchase plan 16,224  14,791 
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options 2,421  10,655 
Other financing activities (213) (10)

Net cash provided by financing activities 16,043  23,195 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash (2,562) (4,276)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 144,450  10,149 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 300,866  278,271 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 445,316  $ 288,420 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 26,786  $ 10,619 
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds 6,166  7,630 
Supplemental cash flow information related to leases:
Cash payments for operating leases $ 6,797  $ 3,641 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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TENABLE HOLDINGS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

1. Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Business Description

Tenable Holdings, Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” "us," or “our”) is a provider of exposure management solutions, which is an effective discipline
for managing, measuring and comparing cybersecurity risk in today's complex IT environments. Our solutions provide broad visibility into
security issues such as vulnerabilities, misconfigurations, internal and regulatory compliance violations and other indicators of the state of an
organization’s security across IT infrastructure and applications, cloud environments, Active Directory and industrial internet of things and
operational technology environments.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Tenable Holdings, Inc. and our wholly owned subsidiaries and
have been prepared in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) for interim financial information. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The consolidated statements are unaudited and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes
included in our 2022 Annual Report on Form 10-K ("10-K") filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 24, 2023. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis consistent with the audited annual consolidated financial statements included
in the 10-K and, in the opinion of management, include all adjustments of a normal recurring nature necessary to fairly state our financial
position, our results of operations, and cash flows.

The results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 are not necessarily indicative of the operating results expected for the
year ending December 31, 2023 or any other future period.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. These estimates include, but are not limited
to, the determination of the estimated economic life of perpetual licenses for revenue recognition, the estimated period of benefit for deferred
commissions, the useful lives of long-lived assets, the fair value of acquired intangible assets, the valuation of stock-based compensation, the
incremental borrowing rate for operating leases, and the valuation of deferred tax assets and investments. We base these estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable. Actual results could differ significantly from these
estimates.

Significant Accounting Policies

Our significant accounting policies are described in our 10-K. During the nine months ended September 30, 2023, there were no material
changes to our significant accounting policies from those described in our 10-K.
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2. Revenue

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following table presents a summary of revenue:
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Subscription revenue $ 183,268  $ 156,764  $ 531,133  $ 446,257 
Perpetual license and maintenance revenue 12,200  12,658  36,535  38,214 
Professional services and other revenue 6,061  5,429  17,736  14,089 

Revenue $ 201,529  $ 174,851  $ 585,404  $ 498,560 

Concentrations

We sell and market our products and services through our field sales force that works closely with our channel partners, which includes a
network of distributors and resellers, in developing sales opportunities. We use a two-tiered channel model whereby we sell our products and
services to our distributors, which in turn sell to resellers, which then sell to end-users. We derived 93% of revenue through our channel network
in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 92% of revenue through our channel network in the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2022. One of our distributors accounted for 36% of revenue in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 38%
of revenue in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022. That same distributor accounted for 37% and 36% of accounts receivable
at September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

Contract Balances

We generally bill our customers in advance and accounts receivable are recorded when we have the right to invoice the customer. Contract
liabilities consist of deferred revenue and include customer billings and payments received in advance of performance under the contract. In the
three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 and the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, we recognized revenue of
$185.9 million, $156.3 million, $430.8 million and $350.6 million, respectively, that was included in the deferred revenue balance at the
beginning of each of the respective periods.

Remaining Performance Obligations

At September 30, 2023, the future estimated revenue related to unsatisfied performance obligations was $697.2 million, of which
$528.4 million is expected to be recognized as revenue over the next twelve months, and the remainder is expected to be recognized over the
four years thereafter.

Deferred Commissions

The following summarizes the activity of deferred incremental costs of obtaining a contract:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Beginning balance $ 109,582  $ 100,000  $ 111,508  $ 99,949 
Capitalization of contract acquisition costs 14,527  12,837  36,819  35,240 
Amortization of deferred contract acquisition costs (12,565) (11,561) (36,783) (33,913)

Ending balance $ 111,544  $ 101,276  $ 111,544  $ 101,276 
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3. Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

The following tables summarize the amortized cost, unrealized gain and loss and estimated fair value of cash equivalents and short-term
investments:

 September 30, 2023

(in thousands) Amortized Cost Unrealized Gain Unrealized Loss
Estimated Fair

Value
Cash equivalents
Money market funds $ 103,979  $ —  $ —  $ 103,979 

Total cash equivalents $ 103,979  $ —  $ —  $ 103,979 

Short-term investments
Commercial paper $ 86,244  $ —  $ (32) $ 86,212 
Corporate bonds 54,769  —  (264) 54,505 
Asset backed securities 16,410  —  (52) 16,358 
Certificates of deposit 10,000  —  —  10,000 
Yankee bonds 6,893  —  (59) 6,834 
U.S. Treasury and agency obligations 73,882  11  (144) 73,749 

Total short-term investments $ 248,198  $ 11  $ (551) $ 247,658 

December 31, 2022

(in thousands) Amortized Cost Unrealized Gain Unrealized Loss
Estimated Fair

Value
Cash equivalents
Money market funds $ 201,476  $ —  $ —  $ 201,476 

Total cash equivalents $ 201,476  $ —  $ —  $ 201,476 

Short-term investments
Commercial paper $ 144,093  $ 2  $ (377) $ 143,718 
Corporate bonds 37,778  —  (194) 37,584 
Asset backed securities 19,723  11  (161) 19,573 
Certificates of deposit 10,000  —  —  10,000 
Supranational bonds 4,017  —  (67) 3,950 
U.S. Treasury and agency obligations 52,309  —  (565) 51,744 

Total short-term investments $ 267,920  $ 13  $ (1,364) $ 266,569 

We considered the extent to which any unrealized losses on our short-term investments were driven by credit risk and other factors,
including market risk, and if it is more-likely-than-not that we would have to sell the security before the recovery of the amortized cost basis. At
September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, our unrealized losses were due to rising market interest rates compared to when the investments
were initiated. We do not believe any unrealized losses represent credit losses, and it is unlikely we would sell the investments before we would
recover their amortized cost basis.
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The contractual maturities of our short-term investments are as follows:
September 30, 2023 December 31, 2022

(in thousands) Amortized Cost
Estimated Fair

Value Amortized Cost
Estimated Fair

Value
Due within one year $ 232,140  $ 231,721  $ 243,430  $ 242,129 
Due between one and two years 16,058  15,937  24,490  24,440 

Total short-term investments $ 248,198  $ 247,658  $ 267,920  $ 266,569 

At September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, cash and cash equivalents included $5.8 million of restricted cash primarily related to
collateral for our outstanding letters of credit.

4. Fair Value Measurements

We measure certain financial instruments at fair value using a fair value hierarchy. In the hierarchy, assets are classified based on the
lowest level inputs used in valuation into the following categories:

• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;
• Level 2 — Observable inputs including quoted market prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for

identical assets and liabilities in inactive markets, or inputs that are corroborated by observable market data; and
• Level 3 — Unobservable inputs.

The following tables summarize assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

September 30, 2023
(in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash equivalents
Money market funds $ 103,979  $ —  $ —  $ 103,979 

Total cash equivalents $ 103,979  $ —  $ —  $ 103,979 

Short-term investments
Commercial paper $ —  $ 86,212  $ —  $ 86,212 
Corporate bonds —  54,505  —  54,505 
Asset backed securities —  16,358  —  16,358 
Certificates of deposit —  10,000  —  10,000 
Yankee bonds —  6,834  —  6,834 
U.S. Treasury and agency obligations —  73,749  —  73,749 

Total short-term investments $ —  $ 247,658  $ —  $ 247,658 
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December 31, 2022
(in thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash equivalents
Money market funds $ 201,476  $ —  $ —  $ 201,476 

Total cash equivalents $ 201,476  $ —  $ —  $ 201,476 

Short-term investments
Commercial paper $ —  $ 143,718  $ —  $ 143,718 
Corporate bonds —  37,584  —  37,584 
Asset backed securities —  19,573  —  19,573 
Certificates of deposit —  10,000  —  10,000 
Supranational bonds —  3,950  —  3,950 
U.S. Treasury and agency obligations —  51,744  —  51,744 

Total short-term investments $ —  $ 266,569  $ —  $ 266,569 

At September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, we had $10.0 million and $15.0 million, respectively, of non-marketable simple
agreements for future equity ("SAFE") investments with privately held companies, which are included in other assets on our consolidated
balance sheets. We record our SAFE investments at cost, less any impairment, plus or minus observable price changes for similar investments
of the same issuer. During the three months ended September 30, 2023, we identified impairment indicators for one of our SAFE investments
and determined our investment was impaired, resulting in an impairment loss of $5.0 million that was recorded in other expense, net on our
consolidated statement of operations.

We did not have any liabilities measured and recorded at fair value on a recurring basis at September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

5. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:

(in thousands)
September 30,

2023
December 31,

2022
Computer software and equipment $ 22,247 $ 22,424
Internally developed software 29,362 23,479
Furniture and fixtures 5,949 5,940
Leasehold improvements 28,532 28,214

Total 86,090 80,057
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (42,014) (33,331)

Property and equipment, net $ 44,076 $ 46,726

Depreciation and amortization related to property and equipment was $3.2 million, $2.7 million, $9.7 million and $7.6 million in the three
months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 and the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

At September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2022, our goodwill balance was $316.5 million.
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Acquired intangible assets subject to amortization are as follows:

September 30, 2023 December 31, 2022

(in thousands)
Gross Carrying

Amount
Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Amount

Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying
Amount

Acquired technology $ 97,037  $ (30,868) $ 66,169  $ 97,037  $ (21,738) $ 75,299 
Trade name 490  (490) —  490  (413) 77 

$ 97,527  $ (31,358) $ 66,169  $ 97,527  $ (22,151) $ 75,376 

Amortization of acquired intangible assets was $3.0 million, $3.1 million, $9.2 million and $8.3 million in the three months ended September
30, 2023 and 2022 and the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. At September 30, 2023, our acquired intangible
assets are expected to be amortized over an estimated remaining weighted average period of 6.0 years.

At September 30, 2023, estimated future amortization of acquired intangible assets is as follows:
(in thousands)
Year ending December 31,
2023 $ 3,044 
2024 12,175 
2025 12,175 
2026 11,990 
2027 9,960 
Thereafter 16,825 

Total $ 66,169 

_______________

(1)    Represents the three months ending December 31, 2023.

7. Leases

We have operating leases for office facilities. The components of lease expense were as follows:
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Operating lease cost $ 1,900  $ 1,977  $ 5,690  $ 5,564 

Rent expense for short-term leases in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 was not material.

Supplemental information related to leases was as follows:
September 30,

2023
December 31,

2022
Operating leases

Weighted average remaining lease term 7.6 years 8.2 years
Weighted average discount rate 5.6% 5.6%

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2023 2022
ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations

Operating leases $ —  $ 3,863  $ 1,234  $ 4,256 

(1)
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Maturities of operating lease liabilities at September 30, 2023 were as follows:

(in thousands)
Year ending December 31,
2023 $ 1,890 
2024 8,934 
2025 9,476 
2026 8,821 
2027 8,359 
Thereafter 30,790 

Total lease payments 68,270 
Less: Imputed interest (13,233)

Total $ 55,037 
_______________

(1)    Represents the three months ending December 31, 2023.

8. Debt

Credit Agreement

In July 2021, we entered into a credit agreement ("Credit Agreement") which is comprised of:
• a $375.0 million senior secured term loan facility ("Term Loan"); and
• a $50.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility ("Revolving Credit Facility").

The table below summarizes the carrying value of the Term Loan:

(in thousands)
September 30,

2023
Term loan $ 368,438 

Less: Unamortized debt discount and issuance costs (5,807)
Term loan, net of issuance costs 362,631 

Less: Term loan, net, current (2,690)
Term loan, net of issuance costs (net of current portion) $ 359,941 

_______________

(1)    Term loan, net current is included in other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets.

On June 1, 2023, we began using the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") instead of LIBOR. The Term Loan bears interest at a
rate of 2.75% per annum over SOFR, subject to a 0.50% floor, plus a credit spread adjustment depending on the interest period. The Term Loan
is being amortized at 1% per annum in equal quarterly installments until the final payment of $350.6 million on the July 7, 2028 maturity date.

Our Term Loan is recorded at its carrying value. At September 30, 2023, the fair value of our Term Loan was approximately $367.5 million.
In the fair value hierarchy, our Term Loan is classified as Level 2 as it is traded in less active markets.

(1)

(1)
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The maturities of the Term Loan at September 30, 2023 were as follows:
(in thousands)
Year ending December 31,
2023 $ 938 
2024 3,750 
2025 3,750 
2026 3,750 
2027 3,750 
Thereafter 352,500 

Total $ 368,438 

_______________

(1)    Represents the three months ending December 31, 2023.

We may be subject to mandatory Term Loan prepayments related to the excess cash flow provisions. These prepayments would only be
required if our first lien net leverage ratio (as defined in our Credit Agreement) exceeds 3.5 at the end of each year. At September 30, 2023, our
first lien net leverage ratio was 1.21.

The Revolving Credit Facility bears interest at a rate, depending on first lien net leverage, ranging from 2.00% to 2.50% over SOFR and
matures on July 7, 2026. Additionally, we pay a commitment fee during the term ranging from 0.25% to 0.375% per annum of the average daily
undrawn portion of the revolving commitments based on the first lien net leverage ratio. The Revolving Credit Facility contains a $15.0 million
letter of credit sublimit. At September 30, 2023, we had $0.2 million of standby letters of credit outstanding under our Revolving Credit Facility
related to one of our operating leases. At September 30, 2023, we were in compliance with the covenants under the Credit Agreement.

9. Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

In July 2021, we entered into a contract with Amazon Web Services, Inc. ("AWS") for cloud services from August 2021 through July 2024.
Under the terms of the contract, we committed to spend $43.7 million, $46.8 million and $50.1 million in contract years one, two and three,
respectively, for a total of $140.6 million. If we do not meet the minimum purchase obligation during any of those years, we will be required to
pay the difference. We met our commitments for both the first and second years of our contract with AWS, and as of September 30, 2023, we
have spent $12.9 million of our third year commitment.

Letters of Credit

At September 30, 2023, we had $5.7 million of standby letters of credit related to our grant agreements with the State of Maryland and our
operating leases.

10. Stock-Based Compensation

Under the evergreen provision in our 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, in January 2023 we reserved an additional 5.7 million shares of our
common stock. At September 30, 2023, there were 24.0 million shares available for grant.

(1)
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Stock-based compensation expense included in the consolidated statements of operations was as follows:
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Cost of revenue $ 3,011 $ 2,341 $ 8,542 $ 5,968
Sales and marketing 15,805 13,589 46,622 36,420
Research and development 9,242 8,754 27,871 23,294
General and administrative 8,777 7,959 25,777 24,272

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 36,835 $ 32,643 $ 108,812 $ 89,954

At September 30, 2023, the unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested restricted stock units ("RSUs") was
$282.4 million, which is expected to be recognized over an estimated remaining weighted average period of 2.6 years.

At September 30, 2023, the unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested performance stock units ("PSUs") was
$7.4 million, which is expected to be recognized over an estimated remaining weighted average period of 3.1 years.

At September 30, 2023, the unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to our 2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("2018
ESPP") was $7.4 million, which is expected to be recognized over an estimated weighted average period of 0.6 years.

RSUs and PSUs

A summary of our RSU and PSU activity is presented below:
RSUs PSUs

(in thousands, except for per share data)
Number

 of Shares

Weighted
 Average

 Grant Date Fair
Value

Number
 of Shares

Weighted
 Average

 Grant Date Fair
Value

Unvested balance at December 31, 2022 6,894 $ 43.26  196 $ 44.97 
Granted 3,491  43.19  188  43.24 
Performance adjustment —  —  12  44.97 
Vested (2,541) 41.86  (78) 44.97 
Forfeited (501) 45.16  —  — 
Unvested balance at September 30, 2023 7,343 43.58  318 43.95 

_______________

(1)    Represents adjustments due to the achievement of predefined financial performance targets.

(1)
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Stock Options

A summary of our stock option activity is presented below:

(in thousands, except for exercise prices and years)
Number

 of Shares

Weighted
 Average

 Exercise Price

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual Term

(in years)
Aggregate

Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2022 5,485 $ 8.96  4.5 $ 160,135
Granted — — 
Exercised (289) 8.38  10,265
Forfeited/canceled — — 
Outstanding and exercisable at September 30, 2023 5,196 8.99  3.7 186,092

2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under the evergreen provision in our 2018 ESPP, in January 2023 we reserved an additional 1.7 million shares of our common stock. At
September 30, 2023, there were 8.7 million shares reserved for issuance under our 2018 ESPP.

In the nine months ended September 30, 2023, employees purchased 506,390 shares of our common stock at a weighted average price of
$32.04 per share, resulting in $16.2 million of cash proceeds. At September 30, 2023, there was $4.3 million of employee contributions to the
2018 ESPP included in accrued compensation.

The fair value of the 2018 ESPP purchase rights was estimated on the offering or modification dates using a Black-Scholes option-pricing
model and the following assumptions:

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2023 2022

Expected term (in years) 0.5 — 2.0 0.5 — 2.0
Expected volatility 46.9% — 58.1% 42.8% — 61.0%
Risk-free interest rate 4.8% — 5.4% 0.1% — 3.4%
Expected dividend yield — —

11. Income Taxes

In the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the provision for income taxes included $4.3 million of income taxes in foreign jurisdictions
in which we conduct business and $2.8 million of discrete items primarily related to withholding taxes on sales to customers, partially offset by
$0.2 million of deferred tax benefits related to the Alsid acquisition.

In the nine months ended September 30, 2022, the provision for income taxes included $3.1 million of income taxes in foreign jurisdictions
in which we conduct business, $2.1 million of current expense from the restructuring of our research and development operations in Israel,
partially offset by $1.8 million of deferred tax benefits related to the Alsid acquisition. Additionally, the provision included $1.7 million of discrete
items primarily related to withholding taxes on sales to customers, which was more than offset by a benefit of $2.5 million from partially
releasing the valuation allowance associated with the Bit Discovery acquisition.
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12. Net Loss Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands, except per share data) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Net loss $ (15,565) $ (18,730) $ (56,636) $ (70,735)

Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per share, basic
and diluted 115,954  111,937  114,967  110,843 

Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (0.13) $ (0.17) $ (0.49) $ (0.64)

The following potentially dilutive securities have been excluded from the diluted per share calculations because they would have been
antidilutive:

September 30,
(in thousands) 2023 2022
RSUs 7,343  7,515 
Stock options 5,196  5,569 
Shares to be issued under the 2018 ESPP 128  58 
PSUs 130  — 

Total 12,797  13,142 

13. Geographic Information

We operate as one operating segment. Our Chief Executive Officer, who is our chief operating decision maker, reviews financial information
on a consolidated basis for purposes of making operating decisions, allocating resources and evaluating financial performance.

Revenue by region, based on the address of the end user as specified in our subscription, license or service agreements, was as follows:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2023 2022
The Americas $ 127,016  $ 111,227  $ 368,510  $ 315,706 
Europe, Middle East and Africa 51,397  44,117  150,437  128,779 
Asia Pacific 23,116  19,507  66,457  54,075 

Revenue $ 201,529  $ 174,851  $ 585,404  $ 498,560 

Customers located in the United States accounted for 55% of revenue in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 57% of
revenue in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022. No other country accounted for 10% or more of revenue in the periods
presented.

Our property and equipment, net by geographic area is summarized as follows:

(in thousands)
September 30,

2023
December 31,

2022
United States $ 38,610  $ 39,843 
International 5,466  6,883 

Property and equipment, net $ 44,076  $ 46,726 
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14. Subsequent Events

In October 2023, we acquired Ermetic Ltd. ("Ermetic"). Ermetic is an innovative cloud-native application protection platform company and a
leading provider of cloud infrastructure entitlement management. This acquisition will add capabilities to our Tenable One Exposure
Management Platform and Tenable Cloud Security solution to deliver contextual risk visibility, prioritization and remediation across infrastructure
and identities, both on-premises and in the cloud. We acquired Ermetic for a total purchase price of approximately $244 million, subject to
customary purchase price adjustments.
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Item 2.        Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with (1) our
consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, or this Form 10-Q, and (2) our
consolidated financial statements, related notes and management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, or the 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
February 24, 2023. This Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. These statements
are often identified by the use of words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “project,”
“will,” “would” or the negative or plural of these words or similar expressions or variations. Such forward-looking statements are subject to a
number of risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors that could cause actual results and the timing of certain events to differ materially
from future results expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include,
but are not limited to, those identified herein, and those discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors,” set forth in Part I, Item IA of the 10-K, in
Part II, Item 1A of this Form 10-Q and in our other filings with the SEC. You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of
future events. Furthermore, such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this report. Except as required by law, we undertake
no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of such statements.

Overview

We are a leading provider of exposure management solutions. Exposure management is an effective discipline for managing, measuring
and comparing cybersecurity risk in today's complex IT environments.

Our Tenable One Exposure Management Platform, or Tenable One, unifies a variety of data sources into a single exposure view to help
organizations gain visibility, prioritize efforts and communicate cyber risks. Building on our existing products, Tenable One is designed to take
advantage of the integrations that already exist with our partners and form the foundation of an exposure management program, alongside the
other tools, such as endpoint detection and response and firewalls, and required business processes.

With Tenable One, organizations can translate technical data about assets, vulnerabilities and threats into clear business insights and
actionable intelligence for security executives and practitioners. The platform combines broad, industry-leading vulnerability coverage in the
industry, spanning IT assets, cloud resources, containers, web apps and identity systems. Tenable One builds on the speed and breadth of
vulnerability coverage from Tenable Research and adds aggregated exposure view analytics, guidance on mitigating attack pathways and a
centralized asset inventory.

Tenable One incorporates Tenable Vulnerability Management, Tenable Web App Scanning, Tenable Lumin, Tenable Cloud Security, Tenable
Identity Exposure, Tenable Attack Surface Management and Tenable Security Center. All of these products are also offered as standalone
solutions, alongside Tenable OT Security and Tenable Nessus.

Our platform offerings are primarily sold on a subscription basis with a one-year term. Our subscription terms are generally not longer than
three years. These offerings are typically prepaid in advance. To a lesser extent, we recognize revenue ratably from perpetual licenses and from
the related ongoing maintenance.

We sell and market our products and services through our field sales force that works closely with our channel partners, which includes a
network of distributors and resellers, in developing sales opportunities. We use a two-tiered channel model whereby we sell our enterprise
platform offerings to our distributors, which in turn sell to our resellers, which then sell to end users, which we call customers.

Revenue in the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 and the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 was $201.5
million, $174.9 million, $585.4 million and $498.6 million, respectively, representing year-over-year growth of 15% and 17% in the quarterly and
year-to-date periods, respectively. Our recurring revenue, which includes revenue from subscription arrangements for software (both revenue
recognized ratably over the subscription term and upon delivery) and cloud-based solutions and maintenance associated with perpetual
licenses, represented 95% of
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revenue in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. Our net loss in the three months ended September 30, 2023 and
2022 and the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 was $15.6 million, $18.7 million, $56.6 million and $70.7 million, respectively,
as we continue to invest in our business and market opportunity. Our cash flows from operating activities was $42.4 million, $35.9 million,
$111.4 million and $99.2 million in the three months ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 and the nine months ended September 30, 2023 and
2022, respectively.

Financial Highlights

Below are our key financial results:
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Revenue $ 201,529  $ 174,851  $ 585,404  $ 498,560 
Loss from operations (7,913) (12,958) (37,814) (53,726)
Net loss (15,565) (18,730) (56,636) (70,735)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted (0.13) (0.17) (0.49) (0.64)
Net cash provided by operating activities 42,411  35,853  111,350  99,233 
Purchases of property and equipment (201) (1,896) (1,299) (5,132)
Capitalized software development costs (1,894) (2,451) (4,707) (8,778)

Key Operating and Financial Metrics

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which are prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP, we use and monitor the
following operating and financial metrics, which include non-GAAP financial measures, to understand and evaluate our core operating and
financial performance.

Calculated Current Billings

We use the non-GAAP measure of calculated current billings, which we believe is a key metric to measure our periodic performance. Given
that most of our customers pay in advance, we typically recognize a majority of the related revenue ratably over time. We use calculated current
billings to measure and monitor our ability to provide our business with the working capital generated by upfront payments from our customers.

Calculated current billings consists of revenue recognized in a period plus the change in current deferred revenue in the corresponding
period. We believe that calculated current billings, which excludes deferred revenue for periods beyond twelve months in a customer’s
contractual term, more closely correlates with annual contract value. Variability in total billings, depending on the timing of large multi-year
contracts and the preference for annual billing versus multi-year upfront billing, may distort growth in one period over another.

Calculated current billings may vary from period-to-period for a number of reasons, and therefore has a number of limitations as a quarter-
to-quarter or year-over-year comparative measure. Calculated current billings in any one period may be impacted by the timing and amount of
new sales transactions, the timing and amount of renewal transactions, including early renewals, the mix of the amount of subscriptions and
perpetual licenses, the timing of billing professional services, as well as the timing and amount of multi-year prepaid contracts, all of which could
favorably or unfavorably impact quarter-to-quarter and year-over-year comparisons. For example, an increasing number of large sales
transactions, for which the timing has and will continue to vary, may occur in quarters subsequent to or in advance of those that we anticipate.
Additionally, our calculation of calculated current billings may be different from other companies that report similar financial measures. Because
of these and other limitations, you should consider calculated current billings along with revenue and our other GAAP financial results.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of revenue, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with
GAAP, to calculated current billings:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Revenue $ 201,529  $ 174,851  $ 585,404  $ 498,560 
Deferred revenue (current), end of period 518,372  447,863  518,372  447,863 
Deferred revenue (current), beginning of period (495,199) (415,378) (502,115) (408,443)

Calculated current billings $ 224,702  $ 207,336  $ 601,661  $ 537,980 

_______________

(1) Deferred revenue (current), beginning of period for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 includes $0.9 million related to acquired deferred revenue.

Free Cash Flow

We use the non-GAAP measure of free cash flow, which we define as GAAP net cash flows from operating activities reduced by purchases
of property and equipment and capitalized software development costs. We believe free cash flow is an important liquidity measure of the cash
(if any) that is available, after purchases of property and equipment and capitalized software development costs, for investment in our business
and to make acquisitions. We believe that free cash flow is useful as a liquidity measure because it measures our ability to generate or use
cash.

Our use of free cash flow has limitations as an analytical tool and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for an analysis of
our results under GAAP. First, free cash flow is not a substitute for net cash flows from operating activities. Second, other companies may
calculate free cash flow or similarly titled non-GAAP financial measures differently or may use other measures to evaluate their performance, all
of which could reduce the usefulness of free cash flow as a tool for comparison. Additionally, the utility of free cash flow is further limited as it
does not reflect our future contractual commitments and does not represent the total increase or decrease in our cash balance for a given
period. Because of these and other limitations, you should consider free cash flow along with net cash provided by operating activities and our
other GAAP financial measures.

The following table presents a reconciliation of net cash provided by operating activities, the most directly comparable financial measure
calculated in accordance with GAAP, to free cash flow:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 42,411  $ 35,853  $ 111,350  $ 99,233 
Purchases of property and equipment (201) (1,896) (1,299) (5,132)
Capitalized software development costs (1,894) (2,451) (4,707) (8,778)

Free cash flow $ 40,316  $ 31,506  $ 105,344  $ 85,323 

_______________

(1)    Capitalized software development costs were previously included in purchases of property and equipment.
(2)    Free cash flow for the periods presented was impacted by:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Cash paid for interest and other financing costs $ (7,843) $ (3,253) $ (26,786) $ (10,619)
Employee stock purchase plan activity (2,236) (4,845) (2,507) (4,538)
Acquisition-related expenses (571) (398) (830) (2,395)
Costs related to intra-entity asset transfers —  —  —  (838)
Tax payment on intra-entity asset transfers —  —  —  (2,697)

(1)

    

(1)

(2)
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Free cash flow for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 was benefited by approximately $8 million from prepayments of software subscription
costs, insurance and rent in prior quarters.

Customer Metrics

We believe that our customer base provides a significant opportunity to expand sales of our enterprise platform offerings. The following
tables summarize key components of our customer base:

Three Months Ended September 30,
2023 2022 Change (%)

Number of new enterprise platform customers added in period 386 508 (24)%
_______________

(1)    We define an enterprise platform customer as a customer that has licensed Tenable One, Tenable Vulnerability Management, Tenable Cloud Security,
Tenable Identity Exposure, Tenable OT Security or Tenable Security Center for an annual amount of $5,000 or greater. New enterprise platform customers
represent new customer logos during the periods presented and do not include customer conversions from Tenable Nessus Expert to enterprise platforms.

September 30,
2023 2022 Change (%)

Number of customers with $100,000 and greater in annual contract value at end of
period 1,565 1,280 22%

Dollar-Based Net Expansion Rate

Our dollar-based net expansion rate reflects both our customer retention and ability to drive additional sales to our existing customers. Our
dollar-based net expansion rate has historically fluctuated and is expected to continue to fluctuate on a quarterly basis as a result of a number
of factors, including existing customers' satisfaction with our solutions, existing customer retention, the pricing of our solutions, the availability of
competing solutions and the pricing thereof, and the timing of customer renewals. In addition, our sales pipeline opportunities vary from quarter
to quarter between new customers and expansion from existing customers, and we do not prioritize one over the other to maximize the dollar-
based net expansion rate.

Our dollar-based net expansion rate is evaluated on a last twelve months, or LTM, basis, and is calculated as follows:

• Denominator: To calculate our dollar-based net expansion rate as of the end of a reporting period, we first determine the annual
recurring revenue, or ARR, from all active subscriptions (both revenue recognized ratably over the subscription term and upon delivery)
and maintenance from perpetual licenses as of the last day of the same reporting period in the prior year. This represents recurring
payments that we expect to receive in the next 12-month period from the cohort of customers that existed on the last day of the same
reporting period in the prior year.

• Numerator: We measure the ARR for that same cohort of customers representing all subscriptions and maintenance from perpetual
licenses based on customer orders as of the end of the reporting period.

We calculate dollar-based net expansion rate by dividing the numerator by the denominator.

The following table presents our dollar-based net expansion rate:
September 30,

(in thousands) 2023 2022
Dollar-based net expansion rate 111 % 118 %

(1)
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Non-GAAP Income from Operations and Non-GAAP Operating Margin

We use non-GAAP income from operations along with non-GAAP operating margin as key indicators of our financial performance. We
define these non-GAAP financial measures as their respective GAAP measures, excluding the effects of stock-based compensation,
acquisition-related expenses, costs related to the intra-entity asset transfers resulting from the internal restructuring of legal entities and
amortization of acquired intangible assets. Acquisition-related expenses include transaction and integration expenses, as well as costs related
to the intercompany transfer of acquired intellectual property.

We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures provide useful information about our core operating results over multiple periods.
There are a number of limitations related to the use of the non-GAAP financial measures as compared to GAAP loss from operations and
operating margin, including that non-GAAP income from operations and non-GAAP operating margin exclude stock-based compensation
expense, which has been, and will continue to be, a significant recurring expense in our business and an important part of our compensation
strategy.

The following table presents a reconciliation of loss from operations, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in
accordance with GAAP, to non-GAAP income from operations, and operating margin, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated
in accordance with GAAP, to non-GAAP operating margin:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Loss from operations $ (7,913) $ (12,958) $ (37,814) $ (53,726)
Stock-based compensation 36,835  32,643  108,812  89,954 
Acquisition-related expenses 4,598  322  4,728  2,376 
Costs related to intra-entity asset transfers —  —  —  838 
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 3,055  3,080  9,208  8,292 

Non-GAAP income from operations $ 36,575  $ 23,087  $ 84,934  $ 47,734 

Operating margin (4)% (7)% (6)% (11)%
Non-GAAP operating margin 18 % 13 % 15 % 10 %
________________

(1)    The costs related to the intra-entity asset transfers resulted from our internal restructuring of Cymptom.

Non-GAAP Net Income and Non-GAAP Earnings Per Share

We use non-GAAP net income, which excludes stock-based compensation, acquisition-related expenses and amortization of acquired
intangible assets, as well as the related tax impacts, and the tax impact and related costs of intra-entity asset transfers resulting from the
internal restructuring of legal entities as well as deferred income tax benefits recognized in connection with acquisitions, to calculate non-GAAP
earnings per share. We believe that these non-GAAP measures provide important information because they facilitate comparisons of our core
operating results over multiple periods.

(1)
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The following table presents a reconciliation of net loss and net loss per share, the most comparable financial measures calculated in
accordance with GAAP, to non-GAAP net income and non-GAAP earnings per share:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands, except for per share amounts) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Net loss $ (15,565) $ (18,730) $ (56,636) $ (70,735)
Stock-based compensation 36,835  32,643  108,812  89,954 
Tax impact of stock-based compensation (1,207) 318  1,046  1,572 
Acquisition-related expenses 4,598  322  4,728  2,376 
Costs related to intra-entity asset transfers —  —  —  838 
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 3,055  3,080  9,208  8,292 
Tax impact of acquisitions (48) (958) (161) (4,307)
Tax impact of intra-entity asset transfers —  508  —  2,121 

Non-GAAP net income $ 27,668  $ 17,183  $ 66,997  $ 30,111 

Net loss per share, diluted $ (0.13) $ (0.17) $ (0.49) $ (0.64)
Stock-based compensation 0.32  0.29  0.94  0.81 
Tax impact of stock-based compensation (0.01) —  0.01  0.01 
Acquisition-related expenses 0.04  —  0.04  0.02 
Costs related to intra-entity asset transfers —  —  —  0.01 
Amortization of acquired intangible assets 0.02  0.03  0.08  0.08 
Tax impact of acquisitions —  (0.01) —  (0.04)
Tax impact of intra-entity asset transfers —  0.01  —  0.02 
Adjustment to diluted earnings per share (0.01) —  (0.02) (0.01)

Non-GAAP earnings per share, diluted $ 0.23  $ 0.15  $ 0.56  $ 0.26 

Weighted-average shares used to compute GAAP net loss per
share, diluted 115,954 111,937 114,967 110,843

Weighted-average shares used to compute non-GAAP earnings per
share, diluted 121,473 117,334 120,273 117,524

________________

(1)    The tax impact of stock-based compensation is based on the tax treatment for the applicable tax jurisdictions.
(2)    The tax impact of acquisition-related expenses is not material.
(3)    The costs related to the intra-entity asset transfers resulted from our internal restructuring of Cymptom.
(4)    The tax impact of the amortization of acquired intangible assets is included in the tax impact of acquisitions.
(5)    The tax impact of acquisitions for all periods presented includes the deferred tax benefits of the Alsid acquisition. Additionally, the tax impact of
acquisitions for the nine months ended September 30, 2022 includes a reversal of the $2.5 million income tax benefit recognized for GAAP purposes related to
the partial release of our valuation allowance associated with the Bit Discovery acquisition.
(6)    The tax impact of the intra-entity transfers is related to current tax expense based on the applicable Israeli tax rates resulting from our internal restructuring
of Cymptom.
(7)    An adjustment to reconcile GAAP net loss per share, which excludes potentially dilutive shares, to non-GAAP earnings per share, which includes
potentially dilutive shares.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)
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Components of Our Results of Operations

Revenue

We generate revenue from subscription arrangements for our software and cloud-based solutions, perpetual licenses, maintenance
associated with perpetual licenses and professional services.

Our subscription arrangements generally have annual or multi-year contractual terms to use our software or cloud-based solutions,
including ongoing software updates during the contractual period. For software subscriptions that are dependent on ongoing software updates
and the ability to identify the latest cybersecurity vulnerabilities, revenue is recognized ratably over the subscription term given the critical utility
provided by the ongoing updates that are released through the contract period. When the critical utility of our software does not depend on
ongoing updates, we recognize revenue attributable to the license at the time of delivery and the revenue attributable to the maintenance and
support ratably over the contract period.

Our perpetual licenses are generally sold with one or more years of maintenance, which includes ongoing software updates. Given the
critical utility provided by the ongoing software updates and updated ability to identify network vulnerabilities included in maintenance, we
combine the perpetual license and the maintenance into a single performance obligation. Perpetual license arrangements generally contain a
material right related to the customer’s ability to renew maintenance at a price that is less than the initial license fee. We apply a practical
alternative to allocating a portion of the transaction price to the material right performance obligation and estimate a hypothetical transaction
price which includes fees for expected maintenance renewals based on the estimated economic life of perpetual license contracts. We allocate
the transaction price between the cybersecurity subscription provided in the initial contract and the material right related to expected contract
renewals based on the hypothetical transaction price. We recognize the amount allocated to the combined license and maintenance
performance obligation over the initial contractual period, which is generally one year. We recognize the amount allocated to the material right
over the expected maintenance renewal period, which begins at the end of the initial contractual term and is generally four years. We have
estimated the five-year economic life of perpetual license contracts based on historical contract attrition, expected renewal periods, the lifecycle
of our technology and other factors. This estimate may change over time.

Professional services and other revenue is primarily comprised of advisory services and training related to the deployment and optimization
of our products. These services do not result in significant customization of our products. Professional services and other revenue is recognized
as the services are performed.

We have historically experienced, and expect in the future to experience, seasonality in entering into agreements with customers. We
typically enter into a significantly higher percentage of agreements with new customers, as well as renewal agreements with existing customers,
in the third and fourth quarters of the year. The increase in customer agreements in the third quarter is primarily attributable to U.S. government
and related agencies, and the increase in the fourth quarter is primarily attributable to large enterprise account buying patterns typical in the
software industry. The ratable nature of our subscription revenue makes this seasonality less apparent in our overall financial results. At the end
of the first quarter of 2023, we experienced longer sales cycle times in the purchasing and approval phases of our sales cycle, and this trend
has continued during 2023 and may continue into 2024.

Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue includes personnel costs related to our technical support group that provides assistance to customers, including salaries,
benefits, bonuses, payroll taxes, stock-based compensation and any severance. Cost of revenue also includes cloud infrastructure costs, the
costs related to professional services and training, depreciation, amortization of acquired and developed technology, hardware costs and
allocated overhead costs, which consist of information technology and facilities.

We intend to continue to invest additional resources in our cloud-based platform and customer support team as we grow our business. The
level and timing of investment in these areas could affect our cost of revenue in the future.
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Gross profit, or revenue less cost of revenue, and gross margin, or gross profit as a percentage of revenue, have been and will continue to
be affected by various factors, including the timing of our acquisition of new customers and our renewals of and follow-on sales to existing
customers, the costs associated with operating our cloud-based platform, the extent to which we expand our customer support team and the
extent to which we can increase the efficiency of our technology and infrastructure through technological improvements.

We expect our gross profit to increase in absolute dollars but our gross margin may fluctuate from period to period depending on the
interplay of all of these factors, particularly as it relates to cloud infrastructure costs, as we expect revenue from our cloud-based subscriptions
to increase as a percentage of revenue.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consist of sales and marketing, research and development and general and administrative expenses. Personnel
costs are the most significant component of operating expenses and consist of salaries, benefits, bonuses, payroll taxes, stock-based
compensation and any severance. Operating expenses also include depreciation and amortization as well as allocated overhead costs,
including IT and facilities costs.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expense consists of personnel costs, sales commissions, marketing programs, travel and entertainment, expenses for
conferences, meetings and events and allocated overhead costs. We capitalize sales commissions, including related fringe benefit costs, and
recognize the expense over an estimated period of benefit, which ranges between three and four years for subscription arrangements
and five years for perpetual license arrangements. Sales commissions on contract renewals are capitalized and amortized ratably over the
contract term, with the exception of contracts with renewal periods that are one year or less, in which case the incremental costs are expensed
as incurred. Sales commissions on professional services arrangements are expensed as incurred as the contractual periods of these
arrangements are generally less than one year.

We intend to continue to make investments in our sales and marketing teams to increase revenue, further penetrate the market and expand
our global customer base. We expect our sales and marketing expense to increase in absolute dollars annually and to be our largest operating
expense category for the foreseeable future. However, as our revenue increases, we expect our sales and marketing expense to decrease as a
percentage of our revenue over the long term. Our sales and marketing expense may fluctuate from period to period due to the timing and
extent of these expenses, including sales commissions, which may fluctuate depending on the mix of sales and related expense recognition.

Research and Development

Research and development expense consists of personnel costs, software used to develop our products, travel and entertainment,
consulting and professional fees for third-party development resources as well as allocated overhead. Our research and development expense
supports our efforts to continue to add capabilities to our existing products and enable the continued detection of new network vulnerabilities.

We expect our research and development expense to continue to increase annually in absolute dollars for the foreseeable future as we
continue to invest in research and development efforts to enhance the functionality of our cloud-based platform. However, we expect our
research and development expense to decrease as a percentage of our revenue over the long term, although our research and development
expense may fluctuate from period to period due to the timing and extent of these expenses.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expense consists of personnel costs for our executive, finance, legal, human resources and administrative
departments. Additional expenses include travel and entertainment, professional fees, insurance, allocated overhead and acquisition-related
costs.
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We expect our general and administrative expense to continue to increase in absolute dollars and decrease as a percentage of our revenue
over the long term, although our general and administrative expense may fluctuate from period to period due to the timing and extent of these
expenses.

Interest Income, Interest Expense and Other Expense, Net

Interest income consists of income earned on cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. Interest expense consists primarily of
interest expense in connection with our senior secured term loan facility, or Term Loan, unused commitment fees on our senior secured
revolving credit facility, or Revolving Credit Facility, and letter of credit fees. Other expense, net consists primarily of foreign currency
remeasurement and transaction gains and losses and an impairment loss if one of our SAFE investments is determined to be impaired.

Provision for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes consists of income taxes in all foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business and the related withholding
taxes on sales with customers. We have recorded deferred tax assets for which a full valuation allowance has been provided, including net
operating loss carryforwards and tax credits. We expect to maintain this full valuation allowance for the foreseeable future as it is more likely
than not that some or all of those deferred tax assets may not be realized based on our history of losses.
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Results of Operations

The following tables set forth our consolidated results of operations for the periods presented:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Revenue $ 201,529  $ 174,851  $ 585,404  $ 498,560 
Cost of revenue 45,754  38,582  134,774  109,549 
Gross profit 155,775  136,269  450,630  389,011 
Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 94,759  88,123  289,750  258,119 
Research and development 37,052  36,131  113,080  106,649 
General and administrative 31,877  24,973  85,614  77,969 

Total operating expenses 163,688  149,227  488,444  442,737 
Loss from operations (7,913) (12,958) (37,814) (53,726)

Interest income 7,662  1,803  19,323  2,746 
Interest expense (8,119) (5,082) (23,208) (12,246)
Other expense, net (6,502) (2,073) (7,993) (4,880)

Loss before income taxes (14,872) (18,310) (49,692) (68,106)
Provision for income taxes 693  420  6,944  2,629 
Net loss $ (15,565) $ (18,730) $ (56,636) $ (70,735)
_______________

(1)    Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

(in thousands) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Cost of revenue $ 3,011 $ 2,341 $ 8,542 $ 5,968
Sales and marketing 15,805 13,589 46,622 36,420
Research and development 9,242 8,754 27,871 23,294
General and administrative 8,777 7,959 25,777 24,272

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 36,835 $ 32,643 $ 108,812 $ 89,954

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022

Revenue

The following table presents the increase in revenue:

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 ($) (%)
Subscription revenue $ 183,268  $ 156,764  $ 26,504  17 %
Perpetual license and maintenance revenue 12,200  12,658  (458) (4)%
Professional services and other revenue 6,061  5,429  632  12 %
Revenue $ 201,529  $ 174,851  $ 26,678  15 %

The increase in revenue of $26.7 million included $30.6 million from existing customers at October 1, 2022, net of a decrease from new
customers of $3.9 million. U.S. revenue increased $12.7 million, or 13%. International revenue increased $14.0 million, or 18%.

Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 ($) (%)
Cost of revenue $ 45,754  $ 38,582  $ 7,172  19 %
Gross profit 155,775  136,269  19,506  14 %
Gross margin 77 % 78 %

The increase in cost of revenue of $7.2 million was primarily due to:

• a $3.4 million increase in third-party cloud infrastructure costs;
• a $2.6 million increase in personnel costs, including a $0.7 million increase in stock-based compensation; and
• a $0.6 million increase in depreciation and amortization expenses.

Operating Expenses

Sales and Marketing

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 ($) (%)
Sales and marketing $ 94,759  $ 88,123  $ 6,636  8 %

The increase in sales and marketing expense of $6.6 million was primarily due to:

• a $3.2 million increase in personnel costs, including a $2.2 million increase in stock-based compensation;
• a $1.3 million increase in expenses for demand generation programs, including advertising, sponsorships and brand awareness efforts;
• a $1.3 million increase in selling expenses, including a $0.7 million increase in travel and meeting costs;
• a $0.4 million increase in allocated overhead; and
• a $0.4 million increase in sales commissions.
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Research and Development

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 ($) (%)
Research and development $ 37,052  $ 36,131  $ 921  3 %

The increase in research and development expense of $0.9 million was primarily due to:

• a $1.2 million increase in third-party cloud infrastructure costs; and
• a $0.2 million increase in allocated overhead; partially offset by
• a $0.5 million decrease in personnel costs.

General and Administrative

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 ($) (%)
General and administrative $ 31,877  $ 24,973  $ 6,904  28 %

The increase in general and administrative expense of $6.9 million was primarily due to:

• a $4.3 million increase in acquisition-related expenses;
• a $1.5 million increase in personnel costs largely associated with an increase in headcount and a $0.8 million increase in stock-based

compensation;
• a $0.6 million increase in professional fees;
• a $0.4 million increase in bank fees; and
• a $0.2 million increase in indirect taxes such as VAT.

Interest Income, Interest Expense and Other Expense, Net

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 ($) (%)
Interest income $ 7,662  $ 1,803  $ 5,859  325 %
Interest expense (8,119) (5,082) (3,037) 60 %
Other expense, net (6,502) (2,073) (4,429) 214 %

The $5.9 million increase in interest income was due to higher interest rates on an increased amount of cash and cash equivalents and
short-term investments. The $3.0 million increase in interest expense was primarily related to an increase in the variable rate of our Term Loan.
The $4.4 million increase in other expense, net was primarily due to a $5.0 million impairment loss on one of our SAFE investments, partially
offset by a $0.6 million decrease in foreign exchange losses.

Provision for Income Taxes

Three Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 ($) (%)
Provision for income taxes $ 693  $ 420  $ 273  65 %
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In the three months ended September 30, 2023, the provision for income taxes included:
• $0.6 million of discrete items primarily related to withholding taxes on sales to customers; and
• $0.1 million of income taxes in foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business.

In the three months ended September 30, 2022, the provision for income taxes included:
• $0.5 million of current expense from the restructuring of our research and development operations in Israel;
• $0.2 million of income taxes in foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business; and
• $0.7 million of discrete items primarily related to withholding taxes on sales to customers; partially offset by
• $1.0 million of deferred tax benefits related to the Alsid acquisition.

Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022

Revenue

The following table presents the increase in revenue:

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 ($) (%)
Subscription revenue $ 531,133  $ 446,257  $ 84,876  19 %
Perpetual license and maintenance revenue 36,535  38,214  (1,679) (4)%
Professional services and other revenue 17,736  14,089  3,647  26 %

Revenue $ 585,404  $ 498,560  $ 86,844  17 %

The increase in revenue of $86.8 million included $95.3 million from existing customers at October 1, 2022, net of a decrease from new
customers of $8.5 million. U.S. revenue increased $42.8 million, or 15%. International revenue increased $44.0 million, or 20%.

Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 ($) (%)
Cost of revenue $ 134,774  $ 109,549  $ 25,225  23 %
Gross profit 450,630  389,011  61,619  16 %
Gross margin 77 % 78 %

The increase in cost of revenue of $25.2 million was primarily due to:

• an $11.2 million increase in personnel costs, largely associated with an increase in headcount and including a $2.6 million increase in
stock-based compensation as well as support for cloud-based products;

• a $10.0 million increase in third-party cloud infrastructure costs;
• a $1.6 million increase in depreciation and amortization expenses;
• a $0.9 million increase in amortization of intangible assets due to acquired intangible assets; and
• a $0.6 million increase in allocated overhead.
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Operating Expenses

Sales and Marketing

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 ($) (%)
Sales and marketing $ 289,750  $ 258,119  $ 31,631  12 %

The increase in sales and marketing expense of $31.6 million was primarily due to:

• an $18.3 million increase in personnel costs, largely associated with an increase in headcount and a $10.2 million increase in stock-
based compensation;

• an $8.1 million increase in selling expenses, including a $6.7 million increase in travel and meeting costs;
• a $4.9 million increase in expenses for demand generation programs, including advertising, sponsorships and brand awareness efforts;

and
• a $0.9 million increase in allocated overhead; partially offset by
• a $0.8 million decrease in sales commissions.

Research and Development

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 ($) (%)
Research and development $ 113,080  $ 106,649  $ 6,431  6 %

The increase in research and development expense of $6.4 million was primarily due to:

• a $4.0 million increase in third-party cloud infrastructure costs;
• a $2.7 million net increase in personnel costs, largely associated with an increase in headcount, including a $4.6 million increase in

stock-based compensation and net of increased support for cloud-based products;
• a $0.5 million increase in allocated overhead; and
• a $0.4 million increase in travel and meeting costs; partially offset by
• a $0.9 million increase in tax credits.

General and Administrative

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 ($) (%)
General and administrative $ 85,614  $ 77,969  $ 7,645  10 %

The increase in general and administrative expense of $7.6 million was primarily due to:
• a $2.6 million increase in personnel costs, largely associated with an increase in headcount and a $1.5 million increase in stock-based

compensation;
• a $2.4 million increase in acquisition-related expenses;
• a $1.4 million increase in professional fees;
• a $1.0 million increase in indirect taxes such as VAT;
• a $0.8 million increase in bank fees; and
• a $0.3 million increase in travel and meeting costs; partially offset by
• a $0.8 million decrease in intra-entity asset transfer costs related to Cymptom.
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Interest Income, Interest Expense and Other Expense, Net

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 ($) (%)
Interest income $ 19,323  $ 2,746  $ 16,577  604 %
Interest expense (23,208) (12,246) (10,962) 90 %
Other expense, net (7,993) (4,880) (3,113) 64 %

The $16.6 million increase in interest income was due to higher interest rates on an increased amount of short-term investments and cash
and cash equivalents. Interest expense increased $11.0 million due to an increase in the interest rate on our Term Loan. Other expense, net
increased $3.1 million primarily due to a $5.0 million impairment loss on one of our SAFE investments, partially offset by a $1.7 million decrease
in foreign exchange losses.

Provision for Income Taxes

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change
(dollars in thousands) 2023 2022 ($) (%)
Provision for income taxes $ 6,944  $ 2,629  $ 4,315  164 %

In the nine months ended September 30, 2023, the provision for income taxes included:
• $4.3 million of income taxes in foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business; and
• $2.8 million of discrete items primarily related to withholding taxes on sales to customers; partially offset by
• $0.2 million of deferred tax benefits related to the Alsid acquisition.

In the nine months ended September 30, 2022, the provision for income taxes included:
• $3.1 million income taxes in foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business;
• $2.1 million of current expense from the restructuring of our research and development operations in Israel; and
• $1.7 million of discrete items primarily related to withholding taxes on sales to customers; partially offset by
• a $2.5 million benefit from partially releasing the valuation allowance associated with the Bit Discovery acquisition; and
• $1.8 million deferred tax benefits related to the Alsid acquisition.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At September 30, 2023, we had $445.3 million of cash and cash equivalents, which consisted of bank deposits and money market funds,
and $247.7 million of short-term investments, which consisted of commercial paper, asset backed securities, certificates of deposit, U.S.
Treasury and agency obligations and corporate and Yankee bonds.

Since our inception, we have primarily financed our operations through cash provided by operations, including payments received from
customers using our software products and services. Prior to our IPO, we did not raise any primary institutional capital, and the proceeds of our
Series A and Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock financings were used to repurchase shares of capital stock from former
stockholders. We have generated significant operating losses as reflected by our accumulated deficit of $803.4 million at September 30, 2023.

We typically invoice our customers annually in advance and, to a lesser extent, multi-years in advance. Therefore, a substantial source of
our cash is from such prepayments, which are included in deferred revenue on our consolidated balance sheets. Deferred revenue consists
primarily of the unearned portion of billed fees for our subscriptions and perpetual licenses, which is subsequently recognized as revenue in
accordance with our revenue recognition policy. At September 30, 2023, we had deferred revenue of $681.5 million, of which $518.4 million was
recorded as a current

34



Table of Contents

liability and is expected to be recognized as revenue in the next 12 months, provided all other revenue recognition criteria are met.

Our principal uses of cash in recent periods have been funding our operations, expansion of our sales and marketing and research and
development activities, investments in infrastructure, and acquiring complementary businesses and technology. In October 2023, we acquired
Ermetic for approximately $244 million in cash. We may in the future enter into arrangements to acquire or invest in other complementary
businesses, services and technologies, including intellectual property rights.

We expect to continue incurring operating losses in the near term. Even though we generated positive cash flows from operations and free
cash flow in the nine months ended September 30, 2023, we may not be able to sustain these cash flows. We believe that our existing cash
and cash equivalents and short-term investments will be sufficient to fund our operating and capital needs for at least the next 12 months and
for the foreseeable future. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our revenue growth rate, subscription renewal
activity, the timing and extent of spending to support further infrastructure and research and development efforts, the timing and extent of
additional capital expenditures to invest in new and existing office spaces, the expansion of sales and marketing and international operating
activities, any acquisitions of complementary businesses and technologies, the timing of our introduction of new product capabilities and
enhancements of our platform and the continuing market acceptance of our platform. It may be necessary to seek additional equity or debt
financing to fund our operating and capital needs. In the event that financing is required from outside sources, we may not be able to raise it on
terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital when desired, or if we cannot expand our operations or otherwise
capitalize on our business opportunities because we lack sufficient capital, our business, operating results and financial condition would be
adversely affected.

Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility

In July 2021, we entered into a credit agreement, or the Credit Agreement, which is comprised of a $375.0 million Term Loan and a
$50.0 million Revolving Credit Facility, with a $15.0 million letter of credit sublimit. On June 1, 2023, we began using SOFR instead of LIBOR.
The Term Loan bears interest at a rate of 2.75% per annum over SOFR, subject to a 0.50% floor, plus a credit spread adjustment depending on
the interest period.

From January to September 2023, interest rates on our Term Loan have been between 7.16% and 8.20%. In October 2023 and November
2023, the Term Loan has interest rates of 8.18% and 8.19%, respectively. The Term Loan is being amortized at 1% per annum in equal
quarterly installments until the final payment of $350.6 million on the July 7, 2028 maturity date. We may be subject to mandatory Term Loan
prepayments related to the excess cash provisions in the Credit Agreement if our first lien net leverage ratio (as defined in the Credit
Agreement) exceeds 3.5. At September 30, 2023, our first lien net leverage ratio was 1.21.

The Revolving Credit Facility bears interest at a rate, depending on first lien net leverage, ranging from 2.00% to 2.50% over SOFR and
matures on July 7, 2026. We pay a commitment fee during the term ranging from 0.25% to 0.375% per annum of the average daily undrawn
portion of the revolving commitments based on the first lien net leverage ratio. The Credit Agreement contains customary representations and
warranties and affirmative and negative covenants. Additionally, if at least 35% of the Revolving Credit Facility is drawn on the last day of the
quarter, the total net leverage ratio cannot be greater than 5.50 to 1.00. At September 30, 2023, we were in compliance with the covenants and
had $0.2 million of standby letters of credit outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility.
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Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods presented:

Nine Months Ended September 30,
(in thousands) 2023 2022
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 111,350  $ 99,233 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 19,619  (108,003)
Net cash provided by financing activities 16,043  23,195 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash (2,562) (4,276)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 144,450  $ 10,149 

Operating Activities

Our largest source of cash provided by operating activities is cash collections from sales of our products and services, as we typically
invoice our customers in advance. Our primary uses of cash are employee compensation costs, third-party cloud infrastructure and other
software subscription costs, demand generation expenditures and general corporate costs.

Investing Activities

Net cash provided by investing activities increased by $127.6 million, primarily due to a $67.0 million decrease in cash paid for acquisitions,
a $52.7 million net increase in sales of short-term investments, a $4.1 million decrease in capitalized software development costs and a $3.8
million decrease in purchases of property and equipment.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities decreased by $7.2 million, primarily due to a $8.2 million decrease in proceeds from the exercise
of stock options, which was partially offset by a $1.4 million increase in proceeds from stock issued in connection with our employee stock
purchase plan.

Contractual Obligations

We have certain contractual obligations for future payments. Refer to Note 7 to our consolidated financial statements for our required
operating lease payments and Note 9 for our required payments to Amazon Web Services, Inc. for cloud services.

At September 30, 2023, there were no other material changes in our contractual obligations and commitments from those disclosed in our
10-K.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, as well as related disclosures. We
evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our estimates are based on historical experience and various other assumptions
that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Our actual results could differ from these estimates.

There have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates as described in our 10-K.

Item 3.        Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business, including interest rate, foreign currency exchange and inflation risks.
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Interest Rate Risk

At September 30, 2023, we had $445.3 million of cash and cash equivalents, which consisted of cash deposits and money market funds.
We also had $247.7 million of short-term investments, which consisted of commercial paper, asset backed securities, certificates of deposit,
U.S. treasury and agency securities and corporate and Yankee bonds. Our investments are carried at their fair market values with cumulative
unrealized gains or losses recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss within stockholders' equity. The primary
objectives of our investment activities are the preservation of capital, the fulfillment of liquidity needs and the fiduciary control of cash and
investments. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. Interest-earning instruments carry a degree of interest rate
risk; however, a hypothetical 10% change in interest rates during any of the periods presented would not have had a material impact on our
financial statements.

In July 2021, we entered into the Credit Agreement comprised of a $375.0 million Term Loan and a $50.0 million Revolving Credit Facility.
From January to September 2023, interest rates on our Term Loan have been between 7.16% and 8.20%. In October 2023 and November
2023, the Term Loan has interest rates of 8.18% and 8.19%, respectively. A one percentage point increase in the rate would increase 2023
interest expense by $0.3 million.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Substantially all of our sales contracts are denominated in U.S. dollars, with a limited number of contracts denominated in foreign
currencies, including foreign denominated leases. A portion of our operating expenses are incurred outside the United States, denominated in
foreign currencies and subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the Euro, British
Pound, Australian dollar, Israeli New Shekel and Indian Rupee. Strengthening of the U.S. dollar compared to other currencies could result in
lower international sales as our products would seem more expensive and could result in lower international operating costs as the U.S. dollar
is the functional currency for all of our international subsidiaries. Additionally, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may cause us to
recognize remeasurement and transaction gains (losses) in our consolidated statements of operations. As the impact of foreign currency
exchange rates has not been material to our historical operating results, we have not entered into derivative or hedging transactions, but we
may do so in the future if our exposure to foreign currencies becomes more significant.

Inflation Risk

While we do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, results of operations, or financial condition through
September 30, 2023, our costs, specifically employee-related and third-party cloud infrastructure costs, may become subject to significant
inflationary pressures, and our inability or failure to fully offset such higher costs could harm our business, results of operations, or financial
condition.

Item 4.        Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in
the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal
executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act ), as of the end of the period covered
by this Form 10-Q. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that at September 30,
2023, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by
us in this Form 10-Q was (a) reported
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within the time periods specified by SEC rules and regulations, and (b) communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding any required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in management’s evaluation pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d) or
15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Internal Controls

In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter
how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition,
the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to
apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs. Our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, believes that our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting
are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and are effective at the reasonable assurance level. However, our
management does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors
and all fraud.

38



Table of Contents

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.        Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business. We are not presently a party to
any legal proceedings that, if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken together have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. We have received, and may in the future continue to receive, claims from third parties
asserting, among other things, infringement of their intellectual property rights. Future litigation may be necessary to defend ourselves, our
partners and our customers by determining the scope, enforceability and validity of third-party proprietary rights, or to establish our proprietary
rights. The results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an
adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

Item 1A.    Risk Factors

Except for the risk factors disclosed below, there have been no material changes to the risk factors disclosed in Part 1, Item 1A. "Risk
Factors" of our of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 filed with the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission ("SEC") on February 24, 2023. Our business is subject to risks and events that, if they occur, could adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations and trading price of our securities. In addition to the other information set forth in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, you should carefully consider the factors described in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2022. We may disclose additional changes to risk factors or disclose additional factors from time to time in our future
filings with the SEC. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may impair our
business operations.

The nature of our business requires the application of complex accounting rules and regulations and public reporting and
corporate governance requirements. If there are significant changes in current principles, financial reporting standards,
interpretations or public reporting and corporate governance requirements, or if our estimates or judgments relating to our critical
accounting policies or reporting or governance requirements prove to be incorrect, we may experience unexpected financial
reporting fluctuations or increased compliance costs and strain on our resources and our results of operations could be adversely
affected.

The accounting rules and regulations that we must comply with are complex and subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, the SEC, and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. In addition, many
companies’ accounting disclosures are being subjected to heightened scrutiny by regulators and the public. Further, the accounting rules and
regulations are continually changing in ways that could impact our financial statements.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or U.S. GAAP,
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under
the circumstances, as provided in the section of this report titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.” Significant assumptions and estimates used in preparing our consolidated financial statements include the determination of the
estimated economic life of perpetual licenses for revenue recognition, the estimated period of benefit for deferred commissions, useful lives of
long-lived assets, the valuation of stock-based compensation, the incremental borrowing rate for operating leases, and the valuation of deferred
tax assets. Our results of operations may be adversely affected if our assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ from those in our
assumptions, which could cause our results of operations to fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a
decline in the trading price of our common stock.

As a public company, we are also subject to the reporting and corporate governance requirements of the Exchange Act, the listing
requirements of the Nasdaq Stock Market and other applicable securities rules and regulations, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. Compliance with these
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rules and regulations increases our legal and financial compliance costs, makes some activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly and
increases demand on our systems and resources.

Additionally, we regularly monitor our compliance with applicable financial reporting standards and SEC and applicable listing standard
requirements and review new pronouncements, drafts and interpretations thereof that are relevant to us. We might be required to change our
accounting policies, alter our operational policies and implement new or enhance existing systems, or we may be required to restate our
published financial statements, as a result of new standards or requirements, changes to existing standards or requirements and changes in
their interpretation. Such changes to existing standards or requirements or changes in their interpretation may have an adverse effect on our
reputation, business, financial position and profit, or cause an adverse deviation from our revenue and operating profit target, which may
negatively impact our financial results. Additionally, we may incur substantial professional fees and expend significant management efforts, and
we may need to hire additional staff with the appropriate experience and compile systems and processes necessary to adopt these new
standards and disclosure or governance requirements.

For example, in July 2023, the SEC adopted rules requiring the disclosure of information about a material cybersecurity incident on Form 8-
K within four business days of determining that the incident is material, unless the US Attorney General concludes that such a disclosure would
pose a substantial risk to national security or public safety. Additionally, these rules require disclosures describing the processes used to
identify, assess and manage cybersecurity risks, management's role in assessing and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats and
the board of directors' role in overseeing cybersecurity risks.

Recent and future acquisitions could disrupt our business and adversely affect our business operations and financial results.

We have acquired products, technologies and businesses from other parties, such as our October 2023 acquisition of Ermetic, and we
expect to expand our current business by acquiring additional businesses or technologies in the future. Acquisitions involve many risks,
including the following:

• an acquisition may negatively affect our financial results because it may require us to incur charges or assume substantial debt or other
liabilities, may cause adverse tax consequences or unfavorable accounting treatment, may expose us to claims and disputes by third
parties, including intellectual property claims and disputes, or may not generate sufficient financial return to offset additional costs and
expenses related to the acquisition;

• we may encounter difficulties or unforeseen expenditures in integrating the business, technologies, products, personnel or operations of
any company that we acquire, particularly if key personnel of the acquired company decide not to work for us;

• an acquisition may disrupt our ongoing business, divert resources, increase our expenses and distract our management;
• an acquisition may result in a delay or reduction of customer purchases for both us and the company acquired due to customer

uncertainty about continuity and effectiveness of service from either company;
• we may encounter difficulties in, or may be unable to, successfully sell any acquired solutions;
• an acquisition may involve the entry into geographic or business markets in which we have little or no prior experience or where

competitors have stronger market positions;
• our use of cash to pay for an acquisition would limit other potential uses for our cash;
• the issuance of additional stock in connection with an acquisition could result in substantial dilution to our existing stockholders; and
• if we incur debt to fund such acquisition, such debt may subject us to material restrictions on our ability to conduct our business as well

as financial maintenance covenants.

Acquired businesses have had, and may in the future have a less mature cybersecurity program than our own. While we take steps
designed to ensure our data and system security protection measures cover the acquired business, there may be cybersecurity risks and
vulnerabilities arising from those acquired or integrated entities’ systems, technologies and services, that could also impact our existing
systems, technologies and services and increase our cybersecurity risks.
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The occurrence of any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business operations and financial results. In addition, we
may only be able to conduct limited due diligence on an acquired company’s operations. Following an acquisition, we may be subject to
unforeseen liabilities arising from an acquired company’s past or present operations and these liabilities may be greater than the warranty and
indemnity limitations that we negotiate. Any unforeseen liability that is greater than these warranty and indemnity limitations could have a
negative impact on our financial condition.

In addition, Ermetic principally operates in Israel and the recent conflict there may also have the effect of heightening the risks identified
above.

Our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected by the recent conflict in Israel
and subsequent hostilities in the region, as well as any negative impact on the regional or global economies and capital markets
resulting therefrom or from the ongoing conflict between Ukraine and Russia and any other geopolitical tensions.

U.S. and global markets have experienced volatility and disruption following the escalation of geopolitical tensions, including the conflict in
Israel and the ongoing conflict between Ukraine and Russia. The length, scale and impact of these military conflicts are highly unpredictable
and could continue to result in market disruptions, including significant volatility in commodity prices, credit and capital markets, disruption in the
energy market as well as supply chain interruptions.

Furthermore, our research and development teams for Tenable OT Security and for Ermetic are located in Tel Aviv, Israel. Recent and
ongoing hostilities in the region may have a material impact on our ability to deliver on our product roadmaps for these solutions.

It is impossible to predict the extent to which our operations, or those of our partners or customers, will be impacted in the short and long
term, or the ways in which these conflicts may impact our business. The extent and duration of the military action, sanctions and resulting
market disruptions are impossible to predict, but could be substantial.

Item 2.        Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

None.

Use of Proceeds

None.

Items 3, 4 and 5 are not applicable and have been omitted.
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Item 6.        Exhibits

The following is a list of Exhibits filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q:
Exhibit
Number Description Location

2.1 Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 7, 2023, by and among
Tenable, Inc., Ermetic Ltd., the shareholders of Ermetic identified on the signature
pages thereto and Shareholder Representative Services LLC.

Previously filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 001-38600) on September 7, 202

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Tenable Holdings, Inc. Previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K
(File No. 001-38600) on July 30, 2018

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Tenable Holdings, Inc. Previously filed as Exhibit 3.4 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Fo
S-1 (File No. 333-226002) on June 29,
2018

4.1 Common Stock Certificate of Tenable Holdings, Inc. Previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Fo
S-1 (File No. 333-226002) on July 16, 201

10.1 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and Agreement under the 2018 Equity
Incentive Plan

Filed herewith

31.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-
14(a) under the Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed herewith

31.2 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-
14(a) under the Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Filed herewith

32.1* Certification of the Principal Executive Officer and the Principal Financial Officer
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Furnished herewith

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL with applicable
taxonomy extension information contained in Exhibits 101.SCH, 101.CAL, 101.DEF,
101.LAB and 101.PRE)

________________

(*)    This certification is deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise
subject to the liability of that section, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

TENABLE HOLDINGS, INC.

Date: November 8, 2023 By: /s/ Amit Yoran
Amit Yoran
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(On Behalf of the Registrant and as Principal Executive
Officer)

Date: November 8, 2023 By: /s/ Stephen A. Vintz
Stephen A. Vintz
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
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Tenable Holdings, Inc.

Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice
 (2018 Equity Incentive Plan)

Tenable Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”), pursuant to its 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), hereby awards to Participant a Restricted
Stock Unit Award for the number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock (“Restricted Stock Units”) set forth below (the “Award”). The
Award is subject to all of the terms and conditions as set forth in this notice of grant (this “Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice”), and in the Plan
and the Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (the “Award Agreement”), both of which are attached hereto and incorporated herein in their
entirety. Capitalized terms not explicitly defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan or the Award Agreement. In the event of
any conflict between the terms in this Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice or the Award Agreement and the Plan, the terms of the Plan shall
control.

Participant:    ________________________________    
Date of Grant:    ________________________________    
Vesting Commencement Date:     ________________________________    
Number of Restricted Stock Units:    ________________________________

Vesting Schedule:     The Award vests as follows: 25% of the RSUs will vest on the twelve (12) month anniversary of the Vesting
Commencement Date, rounded down to the nearest whole share, and the remaining seventy-five percent (75%) of the
RSUs will vest in twelve (12) quarterly instalments over the three year period following the twelve (12) month
anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date, in each case rounded down to the nearest whole share; provided, that
with respect to the last such quarterly installment, the number of RSUs that vest in the installment shall be such that the
Participant will be fully vested in the total number of RSUs listed above as of the fourth (4th) anniversary of the
Vesting Commencement Date, subject to Participant’s Continuous Service through each such vesting date and the
potential vesting acceleration described in Section 2 of the Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement.

    In addition, (i) if the Participant remains in Continuous Service through the closing of a Change in Control and the Participant’s unvested
RSUs upon the closing of the Change in Control are not continued, assumed or substituted for as permitted by Section
9(c) of the Plan in connection with a Change in Control, or if the Participant’s Continuous Service terminates due to an
involuntary termination by the Company without Cause or due to the Participant’s voluntary termination with Good
Reason at any time between the date a definitive agreement providing for a Change in Control is entered into and on or
before the closing of a Change in Control (provided that such Change in Control closes and becomes effective (and the
Common Stock underlying the Participant’s RSUs is issued) by no later than March 15 of the calendar year
immediately following the calendar year in which the definitive agreement is entered into), then the remaining unvested
RSUs will become fully vested as of the closing of the Change in Control, or (ii) if the Participant’s unvested RSUs are
continued, assumed or substituted for as permitted by Section



    9(c) of the Plan in connection with a Change in Control and if at any time between the closing of a Change in Control and the date which is
twelve (12) months after the closing of such Change in Control, the Participant’s Continuous Service terminates due to
an involuntary termination by the Company without Cause or due to the Participant’s voluntary termination with Good
Reason, then the remaining unvested RSUs at that time will accelerate and be deemed to be vested in full upon such
termination of Continuous Service. Furthermore, any remaining unvested RSUs will vest in full upon the termination of
the Participant’s Continuous Service due to the Participant’s death or Disability.

Issuance Schedule:      Subject to any Capitalization Adjustment, one share of Common Stock (or its cash equivalent, at the discretion of the
Company) will be issued for each Restricted Stock Unit that vests at the time set forth in Section 6 of the Award
Agreement.

Additional Terms/Acknowledgements: Participant acknowledges receipt of, and understands and agrees to, this Restricted Stock Unit Grant
Notice, the Award Agreement and the Plan. Participant acknowledges and agrees that this Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and the Award
Agreement may not be modified, amended, or revised except as provided in the Plan. Participant further acknowledges that as of the Date of
Grant, this Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice, the Award Agreement and the Plan set forth the entire understanding between Participant and the
Company regarding the acquisition of the Common Stock pursuant to the Award specified above and supersede all prior oral and written
agreements on the terms of this Award, with the exception, if applicable, of (i) equity awards previously granted and delivered to Participant, (ii)
any compensation recovery policy that is adopted by the Company or is otherwise required by applicable law and (iii) any written employment
or severance arrangement or other written agreement entered into between the Company and Participant specifying the terms that should govern
this Award upon the terms and conditions set forth therein.



By accepting this Award, Participant acknowledges having received and read the Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice, the Award Agreement and
the Plan and agrees to all of the terms and conditions set forth in these documents. Participant consents to receive Plan and related documents by
electronic delivery and to participate in the Plan through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or another
third party designated by the Company.

Tenable Holdings, Inc. Participant

By:
Signature Signature

Title:

Date:

Attachments:     Award Agreement and 2018 Equity Incentive Plan



Attachment I

Tenable Holdings, Inc.

2018 Equity Incentive Plan
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement

Pursuant to the Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice (the “Grant Notice”) and this Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (the
“Agreement”), Tenable Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) has awarded you (“Participant”) a Restricted Stock Unit Award (the “Award”)
pursuant to the Company’s 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) for the number of Restricted Stock Units/shares indicated in the Grant
Notice. Capitalized terms not explicitly defined in this Agreement or the Grant Notice shall have the same meanings given to them in the Plan.
The terms of your Award, in addition to those set forth in the Grant Notice, are as follows.

1. Grant of the Award. This Award represents the right to be issued on a future date one (1) share of Common Stock for each Restricted
Stock Unit that vests on the applicable vesting date(s) (subject to any adjustment under Section 3 below) as indicated in the Grant Notice. As of
the Date of Grant, the Company will credit to a bookkeeping account maintained by the Company for your benefit (the “Account”) the number
of Restricted Stock Units/shares of Common Stock subject to the Award. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company reserves the right to
issue you the cash equivalent of Common Stock, in part or in full satisfaction of the delivery of Common Stock in connection with the vesting
of the Restricted Stock Units, and, to the extent applicable, references in this Agreement and the Grant Notice to Common Stock issuable in
connection with your Restricted Stock Units will include the potential issuance of its cash equivalent pursuant to such right. This Award was
granted in consideration of your services to the Company.

2. Vesting. Subject to the limitations contained herein, your Award will vest, if at all, in accordance with the vesting schedule provided in
the Grant Notice. Subject to the provisions in this Section 2 regarding accelerated vesting in certain circumstances, vesting will cease upon the
termination of your Continuous Service and the Restricted Stock Units credited to the Account that were not vested on the date of such
termination will be forfeited at no cost to the Company and you will have no further right, title or interest in or to such Award or the shares of
Common Stock to be issued in respect of such portion of the Award. In addition, (i) if you remain in Continuous Service through the closing of
a Change in Control and your unvested Restricted Stock Units upon the closing of the Change in Control are not continued, assumed or
substituted for as permitted by Section 9(c) of the Plan in connection with a Change in Control, or if your Continuous Service terminates due to
an involuntary termination by the Company without Cause or due to your voluntary termination with Good Reason at any time between the date
a definitive agreement providing for a Change in Control is entered into and on or before the closing of a Change in Control (provided that such
Change in Control closes and becomes effective (and the Common Stock underlying your Restricted Stock Units is issued) by no later than
March 15 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the definitive agreement is entered into), then the remaining
unvested Restricted Stock Units will become fully vested as of the closing of the Change in Control, or (ii) if your unvested Restricted Stock
Units are continued, assumed or substituted for as permitted by Section 9(c) of the Plan in connection with a Change in Control and if at any
time between the closing of a Change in Control and the date which is twelve (12) months after the closing of such Change in Control, your
Continuous Service terminates due to an involuntary termination by the Company without Cause or due to your voluntary termination with
Good Reason, then the remaining unvested Restricted Stock Units at that time will accelerate and be deemed to be vested in full upon such
termination of Continuous Service. Furthermore, any remaining unvested Restricted Stock Units will vest in full upon the termination of your
Continuous Service due to your death or Disability.

For this purpose, “Good Reason” shall mean that any of following actions are taken by the Company without your prior written
consent: (i) a material reduction by the Company of your base salary (other than in a broad based reduction similarly affecting all members of
Company's executive management); (ii) a material breach by the Company of your employment agreement or any other material written
agreement between you and the Company concerning the terms and conditions of your employment with the Company; (iii) the relocation of
your principal place of employment, without your



consent, to a place that increases your one-way commute by more than fifty (50) miles as compared to your then-current principal place of
employment immediately prior to such relocation; or (iv) a material reduction in your duties, authority, or responsibilities relative to your duties,
authority, or responsibilities in effect immediately prior to such reduction; provided, however, that, any such termination by you shall only be
deemed for Good Reason pursuant to this definition if: (1) you give the Company written notice of your intent to terminate for Good Reason
within thirty (30) days following your learning of the occurrence of the condition(s) that you believe constitute(s) Good Reason, which notice
shall describe such condition(s); (2) the Company fails to remedy such condition(s) within thirty (30) days following receipt of the written
notice (the “Cure Period”); and (3) you voluntarily terminate your employment within sixty (60) days following the end of the Cure Period.

3. Number of Shares. The number of Restricted Stock Units subject to your Award may be adjusted from time to time for Capitalization
Adjustments, as provided in the Plan. Any additional Restricted Stock Units, shares, cash or other property that becomes subject to the Award
pursuant to this Section 3, if any, shall be subject, in a manner determined by the Board, to the same forfeiture restrictions, restrictions on
transferability, and time and manner of delivery as applicable to the other Restricted Stock Units and shares covered by your Award.
Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 3, no fractional shares or rights for fractional shares of Common Stock shall be created pursuant
to this Section 3. Any fraction of a share will be rounded down to the nearest whole share.

4. Securities Law Compliance. You may not be issued any Common Stock under your Award unless the shares of Common Stock
underlying the Restricted Stock Units are either (i) then registered under the Securities Act, or (ii) the Company has determined that such
issuance would be exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Your Award must also comply with other applicable laws
and regulations governing the Award, and you shall not receive such Common Stock if the Company determines that such receipt would not be
in material compliance with such laws and regulations.

5. Transfer Restrictions. Prior to the time that shares of Common Stock have been delivered to you, you may not transfer, pledge, sell or
otherwise dispose of this Award or the shares issuable in respect of your Award, except as expressly provided in this Section 5. For example,
you may not use shares that may be issued in respect of your Restricted Stock Units as security for a loan. The restrictions on transfer set forth
herein will lapse upon delivery to you of shares in respect of your vested Restricted Stock Units.

(a) Death. Your Award is transferable by will and by the laws of descent and distribution. At your death, vesting of your Award will cease
(subject to any accelerated vesting upon your death in accordance with Section 2 of this Agreement) and your executor or administrator of your
estate shall be entitled to receive, on behalf of your estate, any Common Stock or other consideration that vested but was not issued before your
death (including with respect to any portion of the Award that vests upon your death in accordance with Section 2 of this Agreement).

(b) Domestic Relations Orders. Upon receiving written permission from the Board or its duly authorized designee, and provided that you
and the designated transferee enter into transfer and other agreements required by the Company, you may transfer your right to receive the
distribution of Common Stock or other consideration hereunder, pursuant to a domestic relations order, marital settlement agreement or other
divorce or separation instrument as permitted by applicable law that contains the information required by the Company to effectuate the transfer.
You are encouraged to discuss the proposed terms of any division of this Award with the Company General Counsel prior to finalizing the
domestic relations order or marital settlement agreement to verify that you may make such transfer, and if so, to help ensure the required
information is contained within the domestic relations order or marital settlement agreement.

6. Date of Issuance.

(a) The issuance of shares in respect of the Restricted Stock Units is intended to comply with Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-1(b)(4)
and will be construed and administered in such a manner. Subject to the satisfaction of the Withholding Obligation set forth in Section 11 of this
Agreement, in the event one or more Restricted Stock Units vests, the Company shall issue to you one (1) share of Common Stock for each
Restricted Stock Unit that vests on the applicable vesting date(s) (subject to any



adjustment under Section 3 above, and subject to any different provisions in the Grant Notice). Each issuance date determined by this paragraph
is referred to as an “Original Issuance Date.”

(b) If the Original Issuance Date falls on a date that is not a business day, delivery shall instead occur on the next following business day. In
addition, if:

(i)the Original Issuance Date does not occur (1) during an “open window period” applicable to you, as determined by the
Company in accordance with the Company’s then-effective policy on trading in Company securities, or (2) on a date when you are otherwise
permitted to sell shares of Common Stock on an established stock exchange or stock market (including but not limited to under a previously
established written trading plan that meets the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act and was entered into in compliance with
the Company's policies (a “10b5-1 Arrangement”)), and

(ii)either (1) a Withholding Obligation does not apply, or (2) the Company decides, prior to the Original Issuance Date,
(A) not to satisfy the Withholding Obligation by withholding shares of Common Stock from the shares otherwise due, on the Original Issuance
Date, to you under this Award, and (B) not to permit you to enter into a “same day sale” commitment with a broker-dealer pursuant to Section
11 of this Agreement to satisfy the Withholding Obligation, if applicable and (C) not to permit you to pay your Withholding Obligation in cash,

then the shares that would otherwise be issued to you on the Original Issuance Date will not be delivered on such Original Issuance
Date and will instead be delivered on the first business day when you are not prohibited from selling shares of the Company’s Common Stock in
the open public market, but in no event later than December 31 of the calendar year in which the Original Issuance Date occurs (that is, the last
day of your taxable year in which the Original Issuance Date occurs), or, if and only if permitted in a manner that complies with Treasury
Regulations Section 1.409A-1(b)(4), no later than the date that is the 15th day of the third calendar month of the applicable year following the
year in which the shares of Common Stock under this Award are no longer subject to a “substantial risk of forfeiture” within the meaning of
Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-1(d).

(c) The form of delivery (e.g., a stock certificate or electronic entry evidencing such shares) shall be determined by the Company.

7. Dividends. You shall receive no benefit or adjustment to your Award with respect to any cash dividend, stock dividend or other
distribution that does not result from a Capitalization Adjustment; provided, however, that this sentence will not apply with respect to any
shares of Common Stock that are delivered to you in connection with your Award after such shares have been delivered to you.

8. Restrictive Legends. The shares of Common Stock issued in respect of your Award shall be endorsed with appropriate legends as
determined by the Company.

9. Execution of Documents. You hereby acknowledge and agree that the manner selected by the Company by which you indicate your
consent to your Grant Notice is also deemed to be your execution of your Grant Notice and of this Agreement. You further agree that such
manner of indicating consent may be relied upon as your signature for establishing your execution of any documents to be executed in the future
in connection with your Award.

10. Award not a Service Contract.

(a) Nothing in this Agreement (including, but not limited to, the vesting of your Award or the issuance of the shares in respect of your
Award), the Plan or any covenant of good faith and fair dealing that may be found implicit in this Agreement or the Plan shall: (i) confer upon
you any right to continue in the employ or service of, or affiliation with, the Company or an Affiliate; (ii) constitute any promise or commitment
by the Company or an Affiliate regarding the fact or nature of future positions, future work assignments, future compensation or any other term
or condition of employment or affiliation; (iii) confer any right or benefit under this Agreement or the Plan unless such right or benefit has
specifically accrued



under the terms of this Agreement or Plan; or (iv) deprive the Company of the right to terminate you at will and without regard to any future
vesting opportunity that you may have.

(b) By accepting this Award, you acknowledge and agree that the right to continue vesting in the Award pursuant to the vesting schedule
provided in the Grant Notice may not be earned unless (in addition to any other conditions described in the Grant Notice and this Agreement)
you continue as an employee, director or consultant at the will of the Company and affiliate, as applicable (not through the act of being hired,
being granted this Award or any other award or benefit) and that the Company has the right to reorganize, sell, spin-out or otherwise restructure
one or more of its businesses or Affiliates at any time or from time to time, as it deems appropriate (a “reorganization”). You acknowledge and
agree that such a reorganization could result in the termination of your Continuous Service, or the termination of Affiliate status of your
employer and the loss of benefits available to you under this Agreement, including but not limited to, the termination of the right to continue
vesting in the Award. You further acknowledge and agree that this Agreement, the Plan, the transactions contemplated hereunder and the vesting
schedule set forth herein or any covenant of good faith and fair dealing that may be found implicit in any of them do not constitute an express or
implied promise of continued engagement as an employee or consultant for the term of this Agreement, for any period, or at all, and shall not
interfere in any way with the Company’s right to terminate your Continuous Service at any time, with or without your cause or notice, or to
conduct a reorganization.

11. Withholding Obligation.

(a) On or before the time you receive a distribution of Common Stock pursuant to your Award, or at any other time as requested by the
Company, you hereby authorize any required withholding from the Common Stock issuable to you and/or otherwise agree to make adequate
provision, including in cash for any sums required to satisfy the federal, state, local and foreign tax withholding obligations of the Company or
any Affiliate which arise in connection with your Award (the “Withholding Obligation”).

(b) By accepting this Award, you acknowledge and agree that the Company or any Affiliate may, in its sole discretion, satisfy all or any
portion of the Withholding Obligation relating to your Restricted Stock Units by any of the following means or by a combination of such
means: (i) causing you to pay any portion of the Withholding Obligation in cash; (ii) withholding from any compensation otherwise payable to
you by the Company; (iii) withholding shares of Common Stock from the shares of Common Stock issued or otherwise issuable to you in
connection with the Award with a Fair Market Value (measured as of the date shares of Common Stock are issued pursuant to Section 6) equal
to the amount of the Withholding Obligation; provided, however, that the number of such shares of Common Stock so withheld shall not exceed
the amount necessary to satisfy the Withholding Obligation using the maximum statutory withholding rates for federal, state, local and foreign
tax purposes, including payroll taxes, that are applicable to supplemental taxable income; and provided, further, that to the extent necessary to
qualify for an exemption from application of Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act, if applicable, such share withholding procedure will be subject
to the express prior approval of the Board or the Company’s Compensation Committee; and/or (iv) permitting or requiring you to enter into a
“same day sale” commitment, if applicable, with a broker-dealer that is a member of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (a “FINRA
Dealer”), pursuant to this authorization and without further consent, whereby you irrevocably elect to sell a portion of the shares to be delivered
in connection with your Restricted Stock Units to satisfy the Withholding Obligation and whereby the FINRA Dealer irrevocably commits to
forward the proceeds necessary to satisfy the Withholding Obligation directly to the Company and/or its Affiliates. Unless the Withholding
Obligation is satisfied, the Company shall have no obligation to deliver to you any Common Stock or any other consideration pursuant to this
Award.

(c) In the event the Withholding Obligation arises prior to the delivery to you of Common Stock or it is determined after the delivery of
Common Stock to you that the amount of the Withholding Obligation was greater than the amount withheld by the Company, you agree to
indemnify and hold the Company harmless from any failure by the Company to withhold the proper amount.

12. Tax Consequences. The Company has no duty or obligation to minimize the tax consequences to you of this Award and shall not be
liable to you for any adverse tax consequences to you arising in connection with this Award. You are hereby advised to consult with your own
personal tax, financial and/



or legal advisors regarding the tax consequences of this Award and by signing the Grant Notice, you have agreed that you have done so or
knowingly and voluntarily declined to do so. You understand that you (and not the Company) shall be responsible for your own tax liability that
may arise as a result of this investment or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

13. Unsecured Obligation. Your Award is unfunded, and as a holder of a vested Award, you shall be considered an unsecured creditor of
the Company with respect to the Company’s obligation, if any, to issue shares or other property pursuant to this Agreement. You shall not have
voting or any other rights as a stockholder of the Company with respect to the shares to be issued pursuant to this Agreement until such shares
are issued to you pursuant to Section 6 of this Agreement. Upon such issuance, you will obtain full voting and other rights as a stockholder of
the Company. Nothing contained in this Agreement, and no action taken pursuant to its provisions, shall create or be construed to create a trust
of any kind or a fiduciary relationship between you and the Company or any other person.

14. Notices. Any notice or request required or permitted hereunder shall be given in writing (including electronically) and will be deemed
effectively given upon receipt or, in the case of notices delivered by mail by the Company to you, five (5) days after deposit in the United States
mail, postage prepaid, addressed to you at the last address you provided to the Company. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to
deliver any documents related to participation in the Plan and this Award by electronic means or to request your consent to participate in the
Plan by electronic means. By accepting this Award, you consent to receive such documents by electronic delivery and to participate in the Plan
through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or another third party designated by the Company.

15. Headings. The headings of the Sections in this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and shall not be deemed to constitute a
part of this Agreement or to affect the meaning of this Agreement.

16. Miscellaneous.

(a) The rights and obligations of the Company under your Award shall be transferable by the Company to any one or more persons or
entities, and all covenants and agreements hereunder shall inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the Company’s successors and assigns.

(b) You agree upon request to execute any further documents or instruments necessary or desirable in the sole determination of the
Company to carry out the purposes or intent of your Award.

(c) You acknowledge and agree that you have reviewed your Award in its entirety, have had an opportunity to obtain the advice of counsel
prior to executing and accepting your Award and fully understand all provisions of your Award.

(d) This Agreement shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules, and regulations, and to such approvals by any governmental agencies or
national securities exchanges as may be required.

(e) All obligations of the Company under the Plan and this Agreement shall be binding on any successor to the Company, whether the
existence of such successor is the result of a direct or indirect purchase, merger, consolidation, or otherwise, of all or substantially all of the
business and/or assets of the Company.

17. Governing Plan Document. Your Award is subject to all the provisions of the Plan, the provisions of which are hereby made a part of
your Award, and is further subject to all interpretations, amendments, rules and regulations which may from time to time be promulgated and
adopted pursuant to the Plan. Your Award (and any compensation paid or shares issued under your Award) is subject to recoupment in
accordance with The Dodd–Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and any implementing regulations thereunder, any
clawback policy adopted by the Company and any compensation recovery policy otherwise required by applicable law. No recovery of
compensation under such a clawback policy will be an event giving rise to a right to voluntarily terminate employment upon a resignation for
“good reason,” or for a “constructive termination” or any similar term under any plan of or agreement with the Company.



18. Effect on Other Employee Benefit Plans. The value of the Award subject to this Agreement shall not be included as compensation,
earnings, salaries, or other similar terms used when calculating benefits under any employee benefit plan (other than the Plan) sponsored by the
Company or any Affiliate except as such plan otherwise expressly provides. The Company expressly reserves its rights to amend, modify, or
terminate any or all of the employee benefit plans of the Company or any Affiliate.

19. Severability. If all or any part of this Agreement or the Plan is declared by any court or governmental authority to be unlawful or
invalid, such unlawfulness or invalidity shall not invalidate any portion of this Agreement or the Plan not declared to be unlawful or invalid.
Any Section of this Agreement (or part of such a Section) so declared to be unlawful or invalid shall, if possible, be construed in a manner
which will give effect to the terms of such Section or part of a Section to the fullest extent possible while remaining lawful and valid.

20. Other Documents. You hereby acknowledge receipt or the right to receive a document providing the information required by Rule
428(b)(1) promulgated under the Securities Act. In addition, you acknowledge receipt of the Company’s policy permitting certain individuals to
sell shares only during certain "window" periods and the Company's insider trading policy, in effect from time to time.

21. Amendment. This Agreement may not be modified, amended or terminated except by an instrument in writing, signed by you and by a
duly authorized representative of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement may be amended solely by the Board by a
writing which specifically states that it is amending this Agreement, so long as a copy of such amendment is delivered to you, and provided that,
except as otherwise expressly provided in the Plan, no such amendment materially adversely affecting your rights hereunder may be made
without your written consent. Without limiting the foregoing, the Board reserves the right to change, by written notice to you, the provisions of
this Agreement in any way it may deem necessary or advisable to carry out the purpose of the Award as a result of any change in applicable
laws or regulations or any future law, regulation, ruling, or judicial decision, provided that any such change shall be applicable only to rights
relating to that portion of the Award which is then subject to restrictions as provided herein.

22. Compliance with Section 409A of the Code. This Award is intended to be exempt from the application of Section 409A of the Code,
including but not limited to by reason of complying with the “short-term deferral” rule set forth in Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(4)
and any ambiguities herein shall be interpreted accordingly. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if it is determined that the Award fails to satisfy the
requirements of the short-term deferral rule and is otherwise not exempt from, and determined to be deferred compensation subject to Section
409A of the Code, this Award shall comply with Section 409A to the extent necessary to avoid adverse personal tax consequences and any
ambiguities herein shall be interpreted accordingly. If it is determined that the Award is deferred compensation subject to Section 409A and you
are a “Specified Employee” (within the meaning set forth in Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code) as of the date of your “Separation from
Service” (as defined in Section 409A), then the issuance of any shares that would otherwise be made upon the date of your Separation from
Service or within the first six (6) months thereafter will not be made on the originally scheduled date(s) and will instead be issued in a lump sum
on the date that is six (6) months and one day after the date of the Separation from Service, with the balance of the shares issued thereafter in
accordance with the original vesting and issuance schedule set forth above, but if and only if such delay in the issuance of the shares is
necessary to avoid the imposition of adverse taxation on you in respect of the shares under Section 409A of the Code. Each installment of shares
that vests is intended to constitute a “separate payment” for purposes of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b)(2).

* * * * *

       This Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement shall be deemed to be signed by the Company and the Participant upon the signing by the
Participant of the Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice to which it is attached.
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a)

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Amit Yoran, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Tenable Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in the Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 8, 2023 By: /s/ Amit Yoran
Amit Yoran
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a)

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Stephen A. Vintz, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Tenable Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 8, 2023 By: /s/ Stephen A. Vintz
Stephen A. Vintz
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Each of the undersigned hereby certifies to the best of his or her knowledge that, pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Tenable Holdings, Inc. for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2023
fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and that information contained in such Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Tenable Holdings, Inc.

Date: November 8, 2023 By: /s/ Amit Yoran
Amit Yoran
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November 8, 2023 By: /s/ Stephen A. Vintz
Stephen A. Vintz
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)


